RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

10-01-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP517-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN PLENCNER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief in the Circuit Court for Racine County, the Honorable Michael J. Piontk, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ State Bar No. 1079355

Civitas Law Group, Inc. 2618 W. Greenfield Ave. Milwaukee, WI 53204 Main: (414) 949-5266

Direct: (414) 367-8013

E-mail michelle.velasquez@clgmke.org

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was Mr. Plencner denied the effective assistance of counsel where his attorneys failed to argue that the nearly four-year delay in searching the seized property rendered the seizure and search unconstitutional? Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Plencner's post-conviction motion without a *Machner* hearing?

The circuit court denied Mr. Plencner's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal and suppression of the evidence based on the ineffective assistance of counsel without a *Machner* hearing. The circuit court further denied his motion for reconsideration.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant anticipates that the parties' briefs will adequately address the issues presented. This case requires the application of well-established legal principles to the facts of the case. Neither oral argument nor publication is requested, but is welcomed should this Court deem it necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In March, 2010, the Racine Police Department was involved in an investigation of sexual assault of a child. (1:6). Mr. Plencner was arrested, and subsequently charged in Racine County Case Number 10CF464. (1:6)

During that investigation, Officer Spiegelhoff requested a search warrant, which was warrant was issued on the same date by Honorable Judge Simonek. (5:1). Police seized a laptop, a computer tower, and three hard drives. Within days of the filing of criminal charges, the seized

Page 8 of 24

property was turned over to the Wisconsin Department of Justice Division of Criminal Investigations. (DCI).

On April 8, 2010, the electronic devices were released from the Racine Police Department, and turned over to Wisconsin Department of Justice, Division of Criminal Investigation (DCI). (8:1)

On April 14, 2010, Mr. Plencner's then-attorney requested his property be returned. (8:2). The computer, which is the subject of this motion, was not returned. The investigating officer received a preview disc from the computer, but reported that a full evidentiary look at the computer would take weeks or months. (8:2).

Mr. Plencner ultimately pled guilty to the offense on August 20, 2010. The court placed Mr. Plencner on probation for a period of 8 years and imposed 10 months of condition time. After completing his condition time, in August, 2011, Mr. Plencner renewed his request to have his property returned. The property, however, was not returned. (5:2).

Rather, in response to the request, Officer Spiegelhoff stated, "they are still up there [at DCI] and if a DA tells us to turn them over, then I guess we will have to go get them. Otherwise, DCI is still processing them. It takes over a year to get through it all." (5:2).

Two years later, on September 19, 2013, Toby Carlson from DCI contacted Officer Spiegelhoff and indicated that the evidence was being reviewed and child pornography had been found. (8:3). DCI informed Officer Spiegelhoff that it had the 3.5-year-old warrant from 2010, but that under the circumstances, it was requesting a new warrant. (5:2)

Page 9 of 24

The new affidavit submitted by Officer Spiegelhoff indicated that on September 19, 2013 he was contacted by Toby Carlson, who advised that he had "just started working" on this case as it had been previously assigned to other specialists who no longer worked at DCI. (8:3). The court subsequently issued a on September 24, 2013. (8:3). Child pornography was located on one of the hard drives in December, 2013, and form the basis for the charges in the present case. (8:3).

During the pendency of this case Mr. Plencner was represented by two different trial counsel. On July 2, 2015, his first attorney filed a motion to dismiss the case, arguing that the delay in issuing charges, and the staleness of the warrant, violated Mr. Plencner's constitutional rights. (5:1).

The circuit court heard argument and issued a decision on the motion on October 2, 2015. At that hearing, the court made findings of fact related to the timeline of events. (33:7-10). The found that "from a fairness standpoint, it seems totally unfair to have a defendant charged with sexual assault back in 2010, be sentenced, be sentenced on that, and I'm assuming, that the court considered something about what was on the computer . . . [s]o this is about as unfair as it gets." (33:10-11).

However, the court determined that it could not make the finding of actual prejudice required to find a delay in charging unconstitutional. (33:11). The court, concerned with this issue, asked the parties to "revisit" the issue of prejudice, and set the matter over to a new date. (33:13).

Defense counsel filed a second motion to dismiss on November 30, 2015. (8: 1-7). In that motion, the defense focused on how the delayed charging caused actual prejudice to Mr. Plencner, arguing that there were issues with the chain of custody. (8:4-6). The motion also argued that the information in the warrant was "stale and dated". (8:6).

Case 2019AP000517

The circuit court held a second motion hearing on February 22, 2016. It denied the motion to dismiss, and reasoned that there was no prejudice, or other agreement that prohibited the state from filing the charges, albeit more than four years after the initial seizure of the items. (34:9).

Mr. Plencner ultimately pled no contest to two counts of possession of child pornography. (36:2-3). New counsel was represented Mr. Plencner at his sentencing hearing. The parties proceeded to sentencing, and no reason to delay the sentencing was raised. (37:2). The court sentenced Mr. Plencner to 3 years of initial confinement and 2 years of extended supervision on each count, to be served consecutively. (37: 32-33).

Mr. Plencner filed a postconviction motion arguing that his trial counsels were ineffective for failing to challenge the seizure of his property under the correct theory. ¹

The circuit court denied the postconviction motion. In its ruling, the circuit court reasoned that Mr. Plencner had already raised a constitutional challenge in a pretrial motion and cited to the July 2, 2015 motion, which stated, "that the state's pre-charging delay violated the rights guaranteed by the 4th, 5th 6th and 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 7, 8, and 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution . . ." (22:2; App. 102). Accordingly, the circuit court held that trial counsel had not been "ineffective' as that term is defined." (22:2; App. 102).

Mr. Plencner, who identified an issue with sentence credit, filed a supplemental postconviction motion, and in doing so, asked the circuit court to reconsider its prior ruling. (23:1-3). Mr. Plencner clarified that his argument was not that the court should have granted the motions as filed by trial counsel, or that the court should reconsider those, rather, he

¹ Mr. Plencner also argued that the DNA surcharge should be vacated. He does not appeal on that issue.

argued that counsel failed to raise the proper Fourth Amendment argument, and that failing to do so, constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. (23:3).

In a written decision and order, the circuit court granted Mr. Plencner's motion for sentence credit, and denied his motion to reconsider its previous decision denying postconviction relief without a hearing. (24).

Mr. Plencner appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Nearly Four Year Delay Between the Initial Seizure of the Computer, and the Search of It, Rendered it Unconstitutional. Mr. Plencner was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel as His Attorneys Failed to Advance the Correct Theory in their Motions to Suppress the Unlawfully-Obtained Evidence, and the Circuit Court Erred in Denying His Motion Without a *Machner* Hearing.
 - A. Police violated the Fourth Amendment when it seized Mr. Plencner's property in 2010, and failed to perform a search until nearly four-years later.

The facts in this case are largely undisputed. Mr. Plencer's computers and hard drives were seized in 2010, and remained in DCI custody until they were searched in the later part of 2013. (32: 7-8, 10). He was subsequently charged in 2014. (1). A warrant had been issued in 2010, authorizing the police to search Plencner's electronic equipment. (33:7). A preview was done, but the full search of the computers and hard drives seized was not completed. (33:8).

Approximately six months after Mr. Plencner was arrested and charged, he pled guilty and was sentenced. (33:8). After he was released in August of 2011, Mr. Plencner

Page 12 of 24

requested the return of his property. (33:9). The investigator responded that the computers were still at DCI and that it takes "over a year" to get through. (33:9). By this point it had been approximately one and half years since the property was initially seized. Another two years passed. (33:9). In September 2013 the state advised the investigator to seek another warrant. (33:9). The warrant affidavit indicated that DCI "had just started working on the items collected in 2010." (33:10).

1. Legal Principles

The duration of a seizure is relevant to assessing its reasonableness. See United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983); Segura v. United States 468 U.S. 796 (1984). Important to this analysis is "whether the police diligently pursue their investigation." *Place*, a462 U.S. at 709.

when police have probable cause seize something or someone in order to perform a search, they must nevertheless still have a warrant, unless one of a few "jealously and carefully drawn" exceptions applies. State v. Lee, 2009 WI App 96, 9 6, 320 Wis. 2d 536, 771 N.W.2d 373 (internal citations omitted).

As the United States Supreme Court explained:

Where law enforcement authorities have probable cause to believe that a container holds contraband or evidence of a crime, but have not secured a warrant, the Court has interpreted the Amendment to permit seizure of the property, pending issuance of a warrant to examine its contents, if the exigencies of the circumstances demand it or some other recognized exception to the warrant requirement is present.

Place, 462 U.S. at 701.

Page 13 of 24

Therefore, after seizing an item, police must obtain a search warrant to search the contents within a reasonable period of time. See, e.g., Segura, 468 U.S. at 812 ("[A] seizure reasonable at its inception . . . may become unreasonable as a result of its duration").

> 2. The duration of the seizure rendered it unconstitutional; therefore the evidence obtained should be suppressed.

Even though the police had probable cause to seize the computer in 2010, they were not permitted to keep it indefinitely, particularly after Mr. Plencner requested it be returned to him, personally, and through his counsel. (8:1) The nearly four years that Mr. Plencner's computer was held by the state without any explanation, constituted an unreasonable seizure, and therefore a violation of the Fourth Amendment. Accordingly, the evidence obtained from the search should be suppressed.

Instructive here is the Fourth Amendment analysis that The Seventh Circuit undertook in *U.S. v. Burgard*, 675 F.3d 1029, 1033 (7th Cir. 2012). In that case, the defendant sought to suppress evidence obtained from his phone when a six-day delay occurred between the time the phone was seized, and a warrant obtained. Id. 1031.

In its decision, The Seventh Circuit explained that pursuant to the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in *Place*, courts must "assess the reasonableness of a seizure by weighing the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual's Fourth Amendment interests against the importance of the governmental interests alleged to justify the intrusion." *Id.* at 1033 (quoting *Place*, 462 U.S. at 703)(internal quotations omitted).

The Court explained that on the side of the individual, the "longer the police take to seek a warrant, the greater the infringement on the person's possessory interest will be." *Id*.

Page 14 of 24

This, the Court stated, is true not only because more time is a greater infringement, but also because "unnecessary delays" "prevent the judiciary from promptly evaluating and correcting improper seizures." *Burgard*, 675 F.3d at 1031. Whether the "person from whom the item was taken ever asserted a possessory claim to it" is also relevant to this analysis, though not essential, as it reflects whether the seizure in fact affected the person's possessory interests. *Id*.

With regard to the government's interest, the Seventh Circuit explained that the strength of the state's basis for the seizure was a "key factor" in the analysis. *Id*. Also, however, central to the analysis is whether police acted with diligence: "When police neglect to seek a warrant without any good explanation for that delay, it appears that the state is indifferent to searching the item and the intrusion on an individual's possessory interest is less likely to be justifiable." Id.

In that case, the Seventh Circuit ultimately determined that although the defendant had a strong possessory interest in the cell phone, and that although there was "police imperfection," the delay was not unreasonable since the officer's delay was not the "result of complete abdication of his work or failure to see any urgency." *Id.* at 1034 (internal quotation omitted).

The distinction between **Burgard** and the facts at hand in this case is plain. In that case, the defendant complained of a six-day delay between the seizing of his property and the application of the search warrant. *Id.* at 1031. Here, Mr. Plencher was deprived his possessory interests for nearly four years before the police obtained a second warrant and searched the contents of his electronic items. (33: 9-10).

There is nothing in the record to show that the police or DCI did anything to move the investigation along. Even after Mr. Plencner requested the return of his property in August of 2011, another two years passed until a second warrant application was made. (33:9-10). In fact, the affidavit signed on September 24, 2013 stated that DCI "just started working on the items collected in 2010." (33:10). In contrast to *Burgard*, where although there was "police imperfection" but no abdication of work or failure to see urgency where an officer's warrant application was delayed due to changes in shift and an intervening armed robbery *Id*. at 1031; here, the record only demonstrates some changes in staff at DCI. This is not sufficient to justify a nearly four-year delay.

The exclusionary rule requires courts to suppress evidence "obtained through the exploitation of an illegal search or seizure." *Wong Sun v. United States*, 347 U.S. 471, 488 (1963). "This rule applies not only to primary evidence seized during an unlawful search, but also to derivative evidence acquired as a result of the illegal search, unless the State shows sufficient attenuation from the original illegality to dissipate that taint." *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1.

Here, there is no justifiable reason for the delay and the length of time the computer was kept, and no intervening circumstances, no independent source or new information; indeed, the information in the warrant obtained in September, 2013 was nearly identical to the one from March, 2010. (33:10). The evidence obtained and used against Mr. Plencner was a direct result of the constitutional violation; thus, suppression is required. *Id*.

The infringement on Mr. Plencner's rights was unreasonable, and therefore this Court should find that the evidence obtained in the search of the illegally- detained computers should be suppressed.

Page 16 of 24

B. Plencner was denied the effective assistance of counsel when his attorneys failed to raise the correct constitutional challenge in their motions to suppress the evidence.

Both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to counsel. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 7. "This right includes the right to effective assistance of counsel." State v. **Roberson**, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 23, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111. To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show (1) that counsel performed deficiently; and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. State v. Artic, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 24, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 768 N.W.2d 430.

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must "identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984). Establishing prejudice requires that a defendant show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 276, 558 N.W. 379 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

And, as in this case, "where the asserted attorney error is a defaulted Fourth Amendment claim, a defendant must first prove that the Fourth Amendment claim is meritorious." *United States v. Stewart*, 388 F.3d 1079, 1084 (7th Cir. 2004).

In reviewing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, appellate courts "grant deference only to the circuit court's findings of historical fact." *Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 24 (quoting *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 24, 265 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305). "Whether a motion alleges facts which, if true, would entitle a defendant to relief is a question of law that we [appellate courts] review de novo." State v.

Page 17 of 24

Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). Appellate courts also review de novo "the legal questions of whether deficient performance has been established and whether it led to prejudice rising to a level undermining the reliability of the proceeding." *Id*.

In this case, to prove prejudice, Mr. Plencher must show that there is a "reasonable probability" he would not have been convicted in the absence of trial counsel's deficiency. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985). Put differently, he must prove that he would not have pled guilty and been convicted had trial counsel filed a winning suppression motion.

Here, the only evidence in the case was a result of the unreasonable duration of the seizure of his property. Thus, the primary issue is whether there was a reasonable basis for the nearly four-year long seizure of Mr. Plencner's property, and whether trial counsel had a strategic reason for failing to file suppression motion arguing the Fourth Amendment violation.

As argued in the previous section, the duration of the seizure of the property rendered the seizure and subsequent search unconstitutional. Mr. Plencner's first attorney challenged the warrant and the delay in charging. (5; 8). His second attorney, who represented him at only the sentencing, did not seek to withdraw his plea due to this Fourth Amendment violation.

There is no strategic reason forego a Fourth suppress the unlawfully-obtained Amendment motion evidence, when one has already raised challenges to the constitutionality of the charge, and warrant; and moreover, when prevailing on the motion would result in the suppression of the only evidence the state had against Mr. Plencner.

Page 18 of 24

There is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of the case would have been different had trial counsel filed the suppression motion: evidence would have been suppressed, Mr. Plencner would not have entered his pleas, and the case would have been dismissed.

The Circuit Court Erred When it Denied Mr. Plencner's II. Motion Without an Evidentiary Hearing.

Under State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433, the trial court *must* hold an evidentiary hearing if the movant has alleged sufficient facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief. *Id*. \P 9. (Emphasis added). The threshold for an evidentiary hearing is lower than that for a new trial.

Whether a defendant's post-conviction motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a hearing for the relief requested is a mixed standard of review. Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9. First, this Court determines whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. Id. This is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *Id*. \P 9.

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