RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-04-2019

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP517-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN A. PLENCNER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. PIONTEK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court soundly denied Plencner's postconviction motion without a hearing.

In essence, Plencner claims that trial counsel raised the wrong claims. Here, his trial counsel had filed a motion to dismiss the counts alleging that (1) the State's delay in charging him violated due process and (2) the information supporting the 2013 warrant was stale. Plencner asserts that counsel should have filed a motion to suppress the child pornography evidence on a theory that the duration of the State's seizure of his computers was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Accordingly, Plencner asserts, trial counsel was ineffective for not pursuing suppression.

Because Plencner cannot demonstrate that his proposed suppression motion would have succeeded, he is not entitled to a hearing on his motion.

A. A *Machner* hearing is not required when the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the Court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. The court "strongly presume[s]" that counsel has rendered adequate assistance. *Id.* To show prejudice, the defendant must prove that the alleged defect in counsel's performance actually had an adverse effect on the defense. *Id.* at 693. More than merely showing that the error had some conceivable effect on the outcome, "the defendant must show that there is 'a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 642, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694); *see also Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011) ("The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.").

A *Machner*⁶ hearing is a prerequisite to this Court's vacating the conviction based on ineffective assistance of counsel. *See State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 554, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998). Hence, the question here is whether Plencner was entitled to a *Machner* hearing on his ineffective assistance claim.

A circuit court must conduct a *Machner* hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance when the defendant alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, entitle him or her to relief. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309–10, 548 N.W. 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497–98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). Thus, "the motion must include facts that 'allow the reviewing court to meaningfully assess [the defendant's] claim." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 21, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (quoting *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 314) (brackets in *Allen*).

 $^{^{6}}$ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

If the defendant fails to raise facts in the motion sufficient to entitle him to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the postconviction court has discretion to grant or deny a hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310–11; *Nelson*, 54 Wis. 2d at 497–98.

Accordingly, this Court reviews whether the motion alleged sufficient facts and whether the record conclusively demonstrates no entitlement to relief de novo. See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9. It reviews whether the postconviction court soundly denied the motion without a hearing under the erroneous-exercise standard. See id.

B. Plencner's proposed suppression claim is based on unsettled law; therefore, counsel cannot have been ineffective for failing to raise it.

Trial counsel's failure to raise a novel argument does not render his or her performance constitutionally ineffective. State v. Lemberger, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 18, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232 (quoted sources omitted). Put differently, the constitutional guarantee that criminal defendants received competent representation "does not insure that defense counsel will recognize and raise every conceivable constitutional claim." *Id.* (quoted sources omitted). Similarly, counsel's forgoing "arguments that require the resolution of unsettled legal questions generally does not render a lawyer's services" outside the broad range of what constitutes professionally competent assistance. *Id.* (quoted sources omitted).

Here, Plencner asserted in his postconviction motion that his trial counsel should have sought suppression of the child pornography files by arguing that the duration of the State's seizure of his computers was unreasonable. (R. 21:5– 8.) He invoked several cases for support,⁷ but none of them address a warrant-based police seizure of a computer and hard drives.

Neither United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983), nor Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796 (1984), supported Plencner's claim. Place involved a duration-based challenge to the reasonableness of law enforcement's warrantless seizure of the defendant's luggage. See Place, 462 U.S. at 709–710. There, because the seizure was justified by only reasonable suspicion—a "less than probable cause" standard, the police had only narrow authority to briefly detain the luggage and dispel their suspicions. Id. at 711. Place does not address when a seizure of computer pursuant to a warrant under the probable cause standard becomes unreasonable.

Nor does Segura. In that case, police illegally entered a residence and remained there 19 hours while other officers sought a warrant. 468 U.S. at 800–01. There, the question was whether an exception from the exclusionary rule applied, that is, whether the fruits of the later-executed warrant were sufficiently attenuated from the illegal entry or whether police had an independent source that would have allowed untainted discovery of the evidence. *Id.* And there, the Court held that law enforcement's 19-hour delay in securing the warrant was not unreasonable under the circumstances. *Id.* at 812. Again, that case did not address the reasonableness of a law-enforcement delay in examining computers seized pursuant to a valid warrant.

Finally, *Gant* is not on point. There, police seized and held Gant's computer for 10 months before obtaining a

⁷ See R. 21:5–7 (discussing United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983); Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796 (1984); State v. Gant, 2015 WI App 83, 365 Wis. 2d 510, 872 N.W.2d 137).

Case 2019AP000517 Brief of Respondent

Filed 12-04-2019

warrant to search it. State v. Gant, 2015 WI App 83, $\P\P$ 5–7, 365 Wis. 2d 510, 872 N.W.2d 137. There, this Court declined to address whether the duration of that pre-warrant seizure was unreasonable. *Id.* \P 14. Instead, it held that suppression was not required based on the independent source and attenuation doctrines. *Id.*

None of those cases assess the reasonableness of law enforcement's delay in executing a search on an item they seized pursuant to a valid warrant. Nor do they address reasonableness in the context of law enforcement's valid seizure of a computer where police have probable cause to believe that it contains child pornography. Rather, the *Gant* court declined to decide whether the duration was unreasonable. Moreover, the seizures in *Segura* and *Place* were distinguishable because they were both based on mere reasonable suspicion. Accordingly, when the Court considered the reasonableness of the seizure's duration, it was based on law enforcement's more-narrow authority under reasonable suspicion, not the broader probable cause standard.

Plencner, in his brief to this Court, advances United States v. Burgard, 675 F.3d 1029, 1033 (7th Cir. 2012) (Plencner's Br. 7–8) for support, but that case likewise does not offer persuasive guidance. Burgard, like Gant, involved a law enforcement delay in obtaining a warrant to search a cell phone, not in executing it. Again, here, the police seized the computers pursuant to a valid warrant; they renewed that warrant in 2013 when Carlson was able to start analyzing them.

Nor has the State identified any controlling authority that would support a suppression motion based on law enforcement's delay in executing the warrant of a validly seized computer. Accordingly, Plencner's trial counsel cannot have been ineffective for failing to advance a Fourth Amendment claim that lacked controlling Wisconsin or United States Supreme Court authority.

C. Alternatively, Plencner cannot demonstrate that the suppression claim would have succeeded.

Counsel is not ineffective for failing to make meritless arguments. *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994). Had counsel claimed that the duration of law enforcement's retention of the computer before executing the warrant was unreasonable, the challenge would have failed.

The Fourth Amendment does not mandate when police must execute a warrant or place upper limits on the duration of a warrant-based seizure. See United States v. Gerber, 994 F.2d 1556, 1559 (11th Cir. 1993). Again, there is no controlling authority in Wisconsin governing this type of claim. That said, federal courts considering such challenges "consistently 'permitted some delay in the execution of search warrants involving computers because of the complexity of the search." United States v. Jarman, 847 F.3d 259, 266–67 (5th Cir. 2017). And to that end, those courts have focused their analysis on whether law enforcement's delay in executing the warrant rendered the probable cause supporting the warrant stale. See id.; see also United States v. Brewer, 588 F.3d 1165 (8th Cir. 2009); United States v. Syphers, 426 F.3d 461, 469 (1st Cir. 2005).

Here, Plencner's trial counsel was not ineffective. Counsel raised a staleness challenge to the second warrant; the circuit court correctly held that the probable cause was not stale. (R. 34:11.) Thus, assuming that the reasonableness of the search required a determination of staleness, counsel committed no failure because she advanced a staleness challenge to the warrant. Additionally, regardless whether counsel advanced the challenge in a motion to dismiss or a motion to suppress, the probable cause supporting the 2013 warrant was not stale. If the evidence of child pornography was present on Plencner's devices when police seized them in 2010, nothing about law enforcement's retention of the devices through 2013 would change that. Hence, counsel was not ineffective for not filing a suppression motion that the record demonstrates would have failed.

Plencner asserts that the balancing test from *Place* would which requires courts apply, to assess the reasonableness of a seizure by weighing "the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual's Fourth Amendment interests against the importance of the governmental interests alleged to justify the intrusion." 462 U.S. at 703. Specifically, seizures of property by law enforcement "generally are considered less intrusive than searches" because the rights that a seizure infringes upon are "only the person's possessory interests." Segura, 468 U.S. at 806; see also State v. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 23, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369.

Place's balancing test does not appear to be the correct test to apply. As discussed, *Place* and its line of cases address warrantless seizures and delays in law enforcement's obtaining a warrant. They do not address law enforcement's delay in executing a warrant to search a validly seized computer, which by its nature requires more time and resources to search than other physical items. *See Jarman*, 847 F.3d at 266–67.

Moreover, Plencner cannot establish that the *Place* test would have resolved in his favor, primarily because he had reduced possessory interests in his computers and hard drives under the circumstances. After Plencner was convicted of the sexual assault charge in 2010 and placed on probation, his probation rules prohibited him from possessing or using any device capable of accessing the Internet without agent

13

approval. (R. 14:4, 11.) Accordingly, even though Plencner appeared to request the return of his devices in 2011 (R. 8:2), it is not apparent how he could have received them without violating his rules of probation. Thus, during the time that DCI retained Plencner's devices, Plencner did not appear to have a significant possessory interest in items he was generally prohibited from possessing.

In contrast, the government's interest in seizing the items was substantial. To start, the police seized the computers pursuant to a valid warrant and therefore, based on probable cause that Plencner was using the computers to commit a crime. Law enforcement and the public have a substantial interest in investigating crimes and preventing further ones. See Brereton, 345 Wis. 2d 563, ¶ 28. Further, "Wisconsin has a significant interest in restricting the proliferation of child pornography." State v. Bruckner, 151 Wis. 2d 833, 853, 447 N.W.2d 376 (Ct. App. 1989); see also New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 757 (1982) ("The prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse of children constitutes a government objective of surpassing importance.") Accordingly, the police here had a significant interest in continuing to hold Plencner's computers until they could confirm the presence of child pornography and prevent any further distribution of it.

In sum, even if the *Place* test applied, law enforcement's interest here greatly outweighed Plencner's diminished possessory interest in the computers.

D. Even if the Fourth Amendment claim had merit, Plencner cannot demonstrate that counsel's not raising it prejudiced him because the good faith exception would have barred suppression.

Here, Carlson obtained the evidence of child pornography shortly after obtaining the September 2013

Filed 12-04-2019

warrant. Hence, even if the State's delay in investigating the computers until 2013 was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, the question is whether Carlson relied in good faith on the new warrant in executing his search.

The good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies when a police officer acts in objectively reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate. United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 920 (1984). In Wisconsin, to show that the good-faith exception applies, the State must demonstrate "that the process used attendant to obtaining the search warrant included a significant investigation and a review by a police officer trained in, or very knowledgeable of, the legal vagaries of probable cause and reasonable suspicion, or a knowledgeable government attorney." State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 63, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625.

The *Eason* test offers an awkward fit to this case. That case involved a facially valid warrant that issued based on an insufficient affidavit. *Id.* ¶ 64. Here, there is no dispute that the 2010 warrant was valid and supported by probable cause, and that the 2013 warrant was likewise valid and relied on the same—and not stale—probable cause. So, to the extent that the *Eason* test would ask for an analysis of the underlying investigation into probable cause or review, there is no challenge to the sufficiency of the original investigation or claim that the application process in 2010 lacked adequate review.

Moreover, Carlson objectively reasonably relied on the 2013 warrant. To start, when he was assigned the task of reviewing the computers in 2013, he noticed that the warrant was issued in 2010. (R. 8:3.) Carlson contacted the Racine police department investigator and asked him to obtain a new warrant. (R. 8:3.) That investigator subsequently followed up

with the district attorney's office, which likewise advised him to obtain a new warrant. (R. 5:2.) The investigating officer then applied for a new warrant based on the same probable cause that supported the 2010 warrant and an explanation that Carlson had just been assigned the review of Plencner's computers after it had been assigned to two previous specialists who had left DCI. (R. 8:3.) Further, Carlson was aware that he was searching for child pornography files on a computer that had been held by the police since its initial seizure. He had every reason to believe that the computers, which had been retained by DCI since their initial seizure, contained the same files in 2013 as they contained in 2010, and that accordingly, the 2013 warrant was valid.

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